IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OMNOVA SOLUTIONS, INC., A SELF-INSURER APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2008-WC-00500-COA

THERESA LIPA

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT OMNOVA SOLUTIONS, INC.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi

(Oral Argument Requested)

Stephen J. Carmody, Esquire, MSB Notest Christopher R. Fontan, Esquire, MSB Notest BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC 248 East Capitol Street, Suite 1400 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: (601) 948-3101 Facsimile: (601) 960-6902

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission ("Commission") erred in ruling that Appellee Theresa Lipa ("Lipa") sustained a loss of wage earning capacity.
- **B.** The Commission erred in considering the testimony of Doug Pugh because his identity was not adequately disclosed before the hearing on the merits.
- C. The Commission erred in awarding Lipa penalties and interest.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Self-insured employer Omnova Solutions, Inc. ("Omnova") has appealed the Order of Honorable Lee J. Howard ("Judge Howard"), dated February 27, 2008 ("Judge Howard's Order").

A. Procedural History

i

ĺ

Lipa has alleged she sustained a loss of wage earning capacity resulting from a workrelated back injury. On March 25, 2002, Lipa filed her workers' compensation claim. In her Petition to Controvert, Lipa alleged a work-related injury date of July 20, 2000. Administrative Judge Tammy Green Harthcock ("Judge Harthcock") conducted a hearing on the merits of Lipa's petition to controvert on November 15, 2006 ("Hearing"). In her January 3, 2007 Order, Judge Harthcock found that Lipa sustained a loss of wage earning capacity resulting from her back injury. Judge Harthcock awarded Lipa permanent disability benefits of \$30.02 per week beginning July 9, 2002 and continuing for a period of four hundred fifty (450) weeks. This award was based on the difference between the wages in Lipa's pre-injury job and the wages in the job Lipa was eventually placed in some five months after returning to work at Omnova. In addition, Judge Harthcock granted Lipa a ten percent (10%) penalty and interest award for each installment not timely paid. Judge Harthcock also credited Omnova for any payments of compensation it had made before her ruling. Finally, Judge Harthcock ordered Omnova to pay for, furnish and provide Lipa with all reasonable and necessary medical services and supplies she requires due to her injury.

On January 18, 2007, Omnova appealed Judge Harthcock's Order. On June 5, 2007, the Full Commission affirmed Judge Harthcock's Order. On June 20, 2007, Omnova appealed the Order of the Full Commission to the Lowndes County Circuit Court. Judge Howard's Order was issued on February 27, 2008, in which he affirmed the Full Commission's Order.

On March 20, 2008, Omnova appealed Judge Howard's Order to this Court. Specifically, Omnova challenges the Commission's ruling of loss of wage earning capacity. Omnova also contends that Judge Harthcock erred in considering the testimony of a lay witness not disclosed in Lipa's discovery responses or pre-hearing statement. Additionally, Omnova appeals the Commission's imposition of penalties and interest.

B. Factual Summary

ł

÷

Lipa sustained a work-related back injury on July 20, 2000. (Vol. 2 R. 1)¹. After nearly two years of medical treatment, Lipa was released to return to work between June 20 and July 8, 2002. (Ex. 1). Her treating physician, Dr. Robert Smith, limited Lipa to "light duty" work for a six month period. Six months later, Lipa was released to advance toward full duty work. (Ex. 1).

At the Hearing, Lipa testified that, upon being medically released to return to work, Omnova placed her in her pre-injury position—a let-off operator—at her pre-injury wage rate. (Tr. 63). Lipa testified that she remained in her pre-injury job for a period of four to five months, at which point she was "bumped" from her position by another employee with greater seniority. (Tr. 15; 63). This "bump" was a direct result of the operation of the terms of the collective-

¹ Citations to the record will be abbreviated as follows: Exhibits – "(Ex. __)"; Clerk of the Lowndes County Circuit Court's Papers – "(Vol. 1 R. __)"; Clerk of the Mississippi Worker's Compensation Commission – "(Vol. 2 R. __)"; Transcript from the Hearing at the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission on November, 15, 2006 – "(Tr. __)".

bargaining agreement between Omnova and its employees ("union contract"). As a result of the operation of the union contract, Lipa was transferred to a "factory trucker" position, which was a lower paying job.² (Tr. 64).

Between the time of her transfer to the factory trucker position and the Hearing, numerous positions within Omnova that were both higher paying and within Lipa's work restrictions became available. (Tr. 79-80; Ex. 7). At the hearing, Omnova proffered testimony from Kathy Brown, Omnova's corporate representative, who explained that nothing in the union contract prohibited Lipa from bidding on other positions after she was transferred to a factory trucker position. (Tr. 77-79). Despite this freedom to seek a higher paying job, both Lipa and Brown testified that, after being placed in the factory trucker position and continuing to work there for over three years, Lipa did not bid on or otherwise attempt to transfer to a higher paying job within Omnova. (Tr. 66; 81).

At the Hearing, Lipa offered testimony from Doug Pugh, the president of Lipa's local union. However, Lipa did not disclose the identity of Pugh in her discovery responses or her pre-hearing statement. Pugh's testimony was objected to by Omnova's counsel during the hearing. (Tr. 9-10). Pugh confirmed that Lipa's transfer was driven by the union contract. Over Omnova's counsel's objection, Pugh also offered testimony that Lipa was prohibited from bidding on another job within the plant by the operation of the union contract—a point directly contested by Omnova's representative. (Tr. 15-16; 24; 77-79).

Also at the Hearing, Omnova presented testimony from Sam Cox, a vocational rehabilitation expert. In Cox's expert opinion, Lipa did not sustain a loss of wage earning capacity as a result of her work-related injury. (Tr. 94). In reaching his opinion, Cox considered

į

 $^{^2}$ Specifically, Judge Harthcock found the job of let-off operator to pay approximately \$45.00 per week more than the job of factory trucker, and used this figure in computing her final award for loss of wage earning capacity. (Vol. 2 R. 66-67).

the fact that Lipa returned to her pre-injury position and pre-injury wages upon returning to work at Omnova, and that her lifting restrictions only prohibited work in heavy to very heavy categories. (Tr. 94-97). Moreover, Cox noted that Lipa possessed above-average education and training, and remained highly employable. (Tr. 95-96).

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission erred in affirming Judge Harthcock's award of loss of wage earning capacity, because Lipa failed to meet the requisite burden of proof in establishing a loss of wage earning capacity resulting from her work-related injury. While Lipa did experience a post-injury wage reduction, she did not experience a post-injury loss of wage earning capacity **as a result of her work-related injury**. To the contrary, Omnova returned Lipa to her pre-injury job at her pre-injury wage rate, where she worked for four to five months. The sole reason for Lipa's eventual reduction in wages was a result of the operation of the union contract. Lipa's lack of effort to bid on or seek higher paying jobs is the reason for her decline in wages. Furthermore, the Commission erred in allowing and relying heavily on the testimony of a witness who was not disclosed in her pre-hearing statement or discovery responses. Finally, the Commission erred in assessing penalties and interest.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1

A. Standard of Review

In accordance with Mississippi jurisprudence, appellate courts are charged with reviewing all questions of law and fact rendered by the Commission. MISS. CODE ANN. §71-3-51. Generally, "[i]f the Commission's findings of fact and order are supported by substantial evidence, all appellate courts are bound thereby." <u>Id.</u> However, appellate courts are empowered to overrule findings of the Commission if that decision is not supported by substantial evidence,

is arbitrary and capricious, is clearly erroneous, is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or if the court finds prejudicial error. Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Company, 523 So. 2d at 317 (Miss. 1988); §71-3-51.

B. The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission Erred in Ruling That Lipa Sustained a Loss of Wage Earning Capacity.

The Commission erred in finding a loss of wage earning capacity because Lipa failed to meet her requisite burden of proof. Dr. Smith assessed Lipa a 10% permanent impairment rating to the body as a whole stemming from the work-related injury. (Vol. 2 R. 65). In "whole body" injury claims, the extent of permanent disability is a multi-part assessment. See Guardian Fiberglass, Inc. v. LeSueur, 751 So. 2d 1201, 1204 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); Robinson v. Packard Elec. Div., General Motors Corp., 523 So. 2d 329, 331 (Miss. 1988). A claimant not only must establish a medical impairment as a result of the work-related injury, but she also bears the burden of establishing: (1) her alleged loss of wage earning capacity, and (2) that her alleged loss of wage earning capacity resulted from the work-related injury—both by "competent, credible evidence which is beyond speculation, conjecture and possibility." Guardian Fiberglass, 751 So. 2d at 1204; Packard Elec. Div., 523 So. 2d at 331. "Loss of wage earning capacity" in this context is determined by comparing a claimant's pre-injury wages with post-injury wage earning capacity. Vardamann S. Dunn, Mississippi Workers' Compensation §67 (3rd ed. 1982) (emphasis added); see also Karr v. Armstrong Tire & Rubber Co., 61 So. 2d 789 (Miss. 1953). Post-injury wage earning capacity is demonstrated through a variety of factors, including postinjury wages, physical limitations, the claimant's age, whether the employer rehires the claimant and the ability of the claimant to find other employment given his or her medical condition. See, e.g., Packard Elec. Div., 523 So. 2d at 329.

i

1. Omnova Was Entitled to a Presumption of No Loss of Wage Earning Capacity, Which Lipa Failed to Overcome.

At the outset, it is important to note that Omnova receives the benefit of an important presumption under the law. When an employer allows a claimant to return to his or her preinjury position and wage rate, Mississippi jurisprudence creates a presumption of no loss of wage earning capacity. <u>See Agee v. Bay Springs Forest Products, Inc.</u>, 419 So. 2d 188 (Miss. 1982). Here, it is undisputed that following her achievement of maximum medical improvement, Lipa returned to her pre-injury job at her pre-injury wage rate with Omnova. (Vol. 2 R. 61). Accordingly, Lipa bore the burden of overcoming a presumption regarding her alleged loss of wage earning capacity. Lipa failed to provide the evidence necessary to overcome this burden.

2. Lipa Failed to Meet Her Burden of Proof in Establishing a Loss of Wage Earning Capacity.

At the Hearing, Lipa has failed to overcome the <u>Agec</u> presumption which favors Omnova. Lipa failed to put forth sufficient proof to establish that she actually sustained a loss in her capacity to earn wages. Before Judge Harthcock, Lipa testified as to the alleged difficulty she experienced in performing her job duties as a let-off operator after returning to her pre-injury job. (Tr. 63-64). However, her self-serving testimony was the only evidence offered by Lipa to support her claim of difficulty in performing her pre-injury job duties. Lipa's testimony merely established that, following her medical release, she returned to her pre-injury job at her preinjury wage rate until such time as she lost her position for reasons not related to her workrelated injury. Lipa testified that she could only perform her work duties because she received help from co-workers. However, no testimony or affidavits were offered from co-workers to support this claim. The Mississippi Supreme Court has previously ruled against workers compensation claimants who fail to produce "any witnesses to corroborate [their] statements of inability to work or perform the usual duties of [their] customary employment." See Walker Manufacturing Company v. Cantrell, 577 So. 2d 1243, 1248 (Miss. 1991). Moreover, there is no record of any complaint being made by Lipa to Omnova management regarding her alleged difficulty.

(a) Omnova Presented Substantial Evidence Which Established No Loss of Wage Earning Capacity.

Even though it did not have the burden of proof, Omnova presented substantial evidence at the Hearing which confirmed that Lipa did not suffer a loss of wage earning capacity. First, Lipa's testimony about loss of wage earning capacity was directly refuted by expert testimony. Sam Cox, a vocational rehabilitation expert, testified that Lipa had not sustained a loss of wage earning capacity. (Tr. 94). In reaching this opinion, Cox considered the following uncontroverted facts: (1) Lipa returned to her pre-injury position and earned her pre-injury wages upon returning to work at Omnova; (2) Lipa successfully performed her duties at this position; (3) Lipa's work restrictions only prohibited work in heavy to very heavy categories; and (4) Lipa possessed an above-average education and training, and remained highly employable. (Tr. 94-97).³

Lipa's failure to seek higher paying jobs within Omnova after her collective bargaining agreement-"bump" forecloses her claim for loss of wage earning capacity. Although Lipa currently earns less than she did before her injury is due, this is a result of her own actions or inactions. Lipa has maintained her union contract-"bump" position for over three years. During this time period, Lipa possessed the right under the union contract to bid on other higher paying

³ While Cox testified that, if Lipa were to ever leave Omnova's employment, she would sustain an initial decrease in wage earning capacity, Cox went on to opine that Lipa's wages would increase, ultimately to the point of her pre-injury wage rate. (Tr. 97). Any decrease in wage rate Lipa may hypothetically sustain between Omnova and another employer would be attributable to the union contract—not because of Lipa's work-related injury.

positions as they came available.⁴ At the Hearing, Kathy Brown, Omnova's corporate representative, testified that following Lipa's "bump" to a factory trucker, at least two positions were available that Lipa could perform, for wages at or exceeding the pay in her pre-injury position. (Tr. 79-80). Brown further established Lipa failed to bid on those available job openings, and no employees with greater seniority bid on the open jobs. (Tr. 66; 81).

Mississippi courts have repeatedly conditioned worker's compensation loss of wage earning capacity awards on an employee making a reasonable good-faith effort to find postinjury employment. <u>See Dunn, Mississippi Workers' Compensation</u> at §72.1 (citing <u>Sardis</u> <u>Luggage Co. v. Wilson, 374 So. 2d 826 (Miss. 1979); Compere's Nursing Home v. Biddy</u>, 243 So. 2d 412 (Miss. 1971)). Similarly, Lipa has repeatedly had the opportunity to increase her post-injury wages but failed to take reasonable efforts to do so. Therefore, Lipa did not establish a loss of wage earning capacity.

(b) Lipa Was Not Entitled to a Presumption of Disability Under the Jordan Line of Cases.

Lipa's position is not supported by the line of "failure to rehire" decisions. In this line of cases, a presumption of disability in favor of a claimant is established only if an employer fails to rehire the employee and that employee cannot return to his or her pre-injury wage level. Jordan <u>v. Hercules</u>, 600 So. 2d 179, 183 (Miss. 1992); <u>Marshall Durbin, Inc. v. Hall</u>, 490 So. 2d 877 (Miss. 1986). While it is true that she does not make the same wages as employees currently working in her pre-injury position, Lipa is not however entitled to the <u>Jordan</u> presumption.

Recently, the Mississippi Court of Appeals clarified <u>Jordan</u>'s application. In <u>Entergy</u> <u>Mississippi, Inc. v. Robinson</u>, a worker's compensation claimant sought to utilize the "failure to rehire" framework when her employer was unable to place her in her pre-injury position because

⁴ Claimant's witness, Doug Pugh, admitted that the union contract did not prevent Lipa from bidding on other jobs at Omnova which she could physically perform and for which she possessed the requisite seniority. (Tr. 38-39).

that position had been totally eliminated during her convalescence. 777 So. 2d 53 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The Court of Appeals held that, despite the employer's technical failure to rehire, the claimant still possessed the overall burden of establishing that she sustained a loss of wage earning capacity. <u>Id.</u> at 56-57.

The fact that a claimant's post-injury wages are lower than his or her pre-injury wages does not satisfy a claimant's burden of proof. A claimant **must** establish that, **as a result of a work-related injury**, he or she sustained a loss of wage earning capacity. <u>Id.</u> at 56. At the Hearing, Lipa failed to prove that her diminution in wages following her injury was a result of her work-related injury. Accordingly, she is not entitled to a presumption of disability under <u>Jordan</u>.

3. Lipa Failed to Establish That Her Post-Injury Reduction in Wages Was Related to Her Work-Related Injury.

As stated above, to establish a claim for loss of wage earning capacity, a claimant must establish that her diminution in wages was a causal result of her work-related injury. <u>See</u> <u>Guardian Fiberglass</u>, 751 So. 2d at 1204; <u>Packard Elec. Div.</u>, 523 So. 2d at 331. Lipa failed to meet the burden of establishing a loss of wage earning capacity claim, because her post-injury wage reduction was in no way related to her injury. To the contrary, Lipa's post-injury wagereduction was a direct result of the operation of the union contact. After reaching maximum medical improvement and returning to her pre-injury job at her pre-injury wage rate for a fourto-five month period, Lipa was eventually "bumped" out of her position by another employee with more seniority. (Tr. 15; 63). As a result, Lipa was placed in a lower paying position solely in accordance with the terms of the union contract.

General workers' compensation law holds that a loss of employment or reduction in wages not based on a claimant's work-related injury—such as that which comes with a economic

conditions, the operation of "bump" clauses in a union contract, or the voluntary employment decision of the claimant—should not serve to support a finding of disability benefits. See 4-84 Larson's Worker's Compensation Law §84.02 (2008). In <u>Mazziotto v. Brookfield Constr. Co.</u>, 40 A.D. 2d 245 (N.Y. 1972), after sustaining a work-related injury, a claimant returned to his pre-injury job. However, after returning to work, the claimant was temporarily laid off due to a lack of available work and eventually forced to retire as a result of the operation of the union contact. On appeal, the court held that, in worker's compensation cases, a claimant has the burden of showing that any alleged wage loss was due to his injury—not due to the operation of his union's regulations. <u>Id.</u> at 247. Similarly, Lipa cannot establish a loss of wage earning capacity by merely pointing to the difference between her pre-"bump" wages and her post-"bump" wages, because her "bump" had absolutely nothing to do with her work-related injury.

The case of <u>Meyers v. Bell Acrosys.</u>, 43 A.D. 2d 869 (N.Y. 1974) dealt with a claimant who suffered a back injury while working for Bell. Following his recovery, the claimant was given a new job by Bell at his pre-injury rate of pay. However, the claimant later voluntarily quit this job at Bell because other employees were being laid off and the claimant decided to take a lower paying job with another employer that he considered to be more secure. The <u>Bell</u> court found that any loss of earning the claimant incurred due to his voluntary change of employment was not causally-connected to his work-related injury, and thus not compensable. <u>Id.</u> Similarly, Lipa's decision to remain in her lower paying jobs within the company—was a voluntary decision not causally-connected to her work-related injury, and is not compensable.

The Michigan courts have confirmed this general rule. In Jones v. Auto Specialties Mfg. <u>Co.</u>, 177 Mich. App. 59, 64; 441 N.W.2d 1 (1988), the claimant began work for the employer in 1947. He injured his back in the early 1950's, but continued in the same job until 1954, when he

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