### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**OMNOVA SOLUTIONS, INC.,** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CASE NO. 2008-WC-00500-COA

THERESA LIPA

**APPELLEE** 

## APPELLEE'S BRIEF TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Appeal From The Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi

(Oral Argument Requested)

Roger K. Doolittle Suite 500 460 Briarwood Drive Jackson, MS 39206 (601) 957-9777 Attorney for Appellee

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**OMNOVA SOLUTIONS, INC.,** 

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2008-WC-00500-COA

THERESA LIPA

APPELLEE

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- A. Standard of Review. The Order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission was supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed.
- B. The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission did not err in ruling that Lipa sustained a loss of wage earning capacity. The Order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission was correct as a matter of fact and law and should be affirmed.

4

- 1. If Omnova was entitled to a presumption of no loss of wage earning capacity,
  Lipa easily overcame this presumption by substantial and overwhelming evidence.
- 2. Lipa met her burden of proof in establishing a loss of wage earning capacity.
  - (a) Omnova failed to present substantial evidence in support of its assertion that there was no loss of wage earning capacity.
  - (b) Lipa has never plead and the Commission did not invoke the Jordan/Thompson rule.
- 3. Lipa proved by substantial, clear, convincing and overwhelming evidence that her post-injury wage was related to her work-related injury.
- C. The Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission did not err in allowing the testimony of Dough Pugh because the admission of his testimony was within the broad discretionary administrative authority of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission and the Appellant did not demonstrate that, considering that it had advance written notice of the nature of Mr. Pugh's testimony, that it called a witness in rebuttal and introduced documentary evidence supporting its rebuttal, that the failure to list Mr. Pugh caused any meaningful difference in the way it would have prepared its case or presented it at the hearing.
- D. The Mississippi Workers" Compensation Commission did not err in awarding Lipa Penalties and Interest.

#### ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review. The Order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission was supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed. The "substantial evidence" scope of judicial review of administrative agency decisions is that the courts may only interfere where the agency action is arbitrary and capricious. Arbitrariness and caprice are in substantial part a function of the absence *vel non* of credible evidence supporting the agency decision. Where there is substantial evidence, a reviewing court has no authority to interfere with the decision of the Commission. The testimony of Ms. Lipa, Mr. Cox, Dr. Smith and Mr. Pugh constitute not only substantial evidence but compelling evidence to support the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission and it should be affirmed.

B. The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission did not err in ruling that Lipa sustained a of wage earning capacity. The Order of the Commission was correct as a matter of fact and law and should be affirmed. This is because wages which are attributable to the kindness and generosity of the union in asserting its assignment powers and in protecting the Claimant's employment are not indicative of the employee's actual capacity to command a certain wage on the open labor marker. The Administrative Judge must evaluate a Claimant and determine whether her employability in the general market place in the locality where she resides has been reduced. Where one's employability in the market place in which she lives has been reduced one has a loss of wage earning capacity. The Appellant's own vocational expert clearly established that the Appellee's employability in the open labor market had been diminished by her on the job injury.

1. Omnova was not entitled to a presumption of no loss of wage earning capacity and if it was then Lipa overcame this presumption by substantial, clear and convincing evidence as a matter of law. While the Appellant's expert initially testified that there was no loss of earning capacity, it was soon demonstrated under cross-examination that his opinion was based solely on the Appellee's employment with the Appellant. That is not the law in Mississippi. Further, an expert opinion which does not take into account all of the facts is not credible. Mr. Cox admitted

under cross-examination that he did not take into account the influence of the Union contract when giving his original opinion, which he was mandated by case law to consider. Mr. Cox also admitted that if Ms. Lipa were not able to work at Omnova there would be a loss of wage earning capacity. Finally, Mr. Cox admitted that whatever course she took in computers 20 years ago would be vastly different then the computers in use today, that Ms. Lipa could not return to the work she did at Revco without accommodations and that he had not found any bookkeeper jobs for a woman with a high school education in the tri-county area which would pay \$50,009.00 a year. When Mr. Cox was asked to consider all relevant factors, as he was required to do under long standing Mississippi law, he had to admit that Ms. Lipa had suffered a loss of wage earning capacity. The Appellant's own vocational expert proved the Appellee's case and overcame any presumption of no loss of wage earning capacity. Mr. Cox's expert testimony mandates an Order in favor of the Appellee.

Ms. Lipa testified that she could not perform her regular duty job without help from co-workers and she suffered pain in doing her work. She specifically testified that she had reviewed the job openings posted for bidding at the Employer's plant and that she either (1) did not have the seniority to bump other employees or (2) that she was not physically able to perform these jobs due to her permanent restrictions.

Dr. Smith established that Ms. Lipa had permanent physical impairment and permanent work restrictions resulting from objectively established injuries to her spine.

Sam Cox, testified that if Ms. Lipa ever left work with the Appellant that she would have a loss of wage earning capacity, could not return to any past jobs at which she was employed prior to working for the Appellant without accommodation for her permanent restrictions and he could not find any jobs in the general labor market for a person with her education and skills which would pay Ms. Lipa \$50,000.00, which is what she was making with the Appellant.

Mr. Pugh established that the Appellee was essentially "stuck" in her job and pay level by the Union contract. That while the Union contract protected the Appellee from discharge and compelled the Appellant to find her a job, once she was placed in a permanent position accommodating her permanent physical disability, she was essentially in that job forever.

Even should the Court strike the testimony of Mr. Pugh, the testimony of Ms. Lipa, Mr. Cox and Dr. Smith establish a prima facie case for the Appellee. The Order of the Commission is not only supported by substantial evidence, it is compelled by the evidence.

 $\{\tfrac{k}{2},$ 

2. Lipa met her burden of proof in establishing a loss of wage earning capacity. The Appellee is a long term employee of 18 years. Her previous job she held for 13 years. That is not the profile of a malingerer. There is no question that she has serious injuries. She was ran over by a fork lift and suffered permanent injuries verifiable by an MRI. She returned to work and had maintained her employment until the time of the hearing. Her testimony was that it hurt her back to lift when the medical evidence proves she has a ruptured disc at L4-5. A person with the Appellee's work history would have not taken a long term cut in pay if she could have possibly avoided it. In fact, the contention of the Appellant that the Appellee deliberately chose to stay in a job which substantially reduced her-wages is both insulting to the Appellee and the intelligence of the trier of fact. The Appellee convincingly testified that she did not bid on the posted jobs because when she looked at the postings these were either (1) for positions she could not physically perform or (2) for which another employee with greater seniority had already bid. The law does not require a person to perform a meaningless act. Does the Appellant really expect the Court to believe that Ms. Lipa would work for three years at a lower paying job if she could move to one making more money. Ms. Lipa was not laying out at the house claiming to be hurt eating bonbons. She was getting up every day and going to work at the plant. Ms. Lipa is hurt, not stupid. If she could have bumped someone and made more money, she would have done it. That is clear to anyone reading this brief.

(a) Omnova failed to present substantial evidence in support of its assertion that there was no loss of wage earning capacity. The Appellant tendered testimony from two witnesses, Mr. Cox and Ms. Brown.

The testimony of Sam Cox, vocational expert for the Appellant, provided substantial and compelling evidence in support of the Order of the Full Commission. Mr. Cox admitted under cross-examination he did not take into account the influence of the Union contract, which he was mandated by case law to consider. And, when Mr. Cox was asked to take into account all factors which case law mandates a Judge must consider, he admitted that the Claimant did have a loss of wage earning capacity. The Appellant's own vocational expert proved the Appellee's case and gave testimony adverse to the Appellant which mandates an Order in favor of the Appellee. Sam Cox testified that if Ms. Lipa ever left the Appellant she would have a loss of wage earning capacity, could not return to her work prior to the Appellant without accommodation for her permanent restrictions and he could not find any jobs in the general labor market for a person with her education and skills which would pay what she made with the Appellant. That totally rebuts any presumption in favor of the Appellant and clearly establishes every factor the Appellee is required to establish to prove a loss of wage earning capacity. Mr. Cox's testimony demands an Order in favor of the Appellee.

Ms. Brown's testimony was a total disaster for the Appellant. Ms. Brown did not directly contradict Mr. Pugh's testimony, so much as make a stubborn and probably desperate attempt to convince the Administrative Judge that a woman with a 10% permanent impairment and life time permanent work restrictions from being run over by a fork lift did not have permanent disability. This testimony was given to a Judge who is an expert in the definition of permanent disability and who knows this testimony is gibberish. Further, she stubbornly continued to insist that the collective bargaining agreement language in question only applied to persons who were totally and permanently disabled. That would be a pretty good trick as "totally and permanently disabled" means one can never work again. Therefore, under Ms. Brown's rationale the language of the collective bargaining unit dealing with employees with disability would only apply to permanently disabled employees who could never work again. One has to wonder why the contract dealing with people working at the plant would have language dealing with people who can never work again? Her testimony is so totally illogical and contrary to common sense that she impeaches

herself. And, she finally did admit that the Claimant had a permanent disability, which brings into operation the language she so desperately tried to avoid with her convoluted and illogically tortured contractual interpretations. Again, it did not matter who the Appellant called, if they were going to try to advance the same incredible defense as Ms. Brown, no one would believe them.

- (b) Lipa has never plead and the Commission did not invoke the Jordan/Thompson rule. In order to invoke the Jordan/Thompson rule one must first testify that one did not return to work with the employer. To the contrary Ms. Lipa testified that she was working for the employer. Appellee cannot understand why this argument is even made as this fact situation and issue does not even exist in this case. This is the equivalent of arguing that the statute on death benefits does not apply, which is equally as true, because no one has died. However, Lipa does not concede anything except that this argument does not even belong in this appeal.
- 3. Lipa proved by substantial, clear and convincing and overwhelming evidence that her post-injury wage was related to her work-related injury. Without the necessity of needlessly repeating the evidence referenced at other places in this brief, it is simply restated herein that the testimony of Ms. Lipa, Dr. Smith, Mr. Cox and Mr. Pugh constitute substantial, clear and convincing and overwhelming evidence proving that her post-injury reduction in wages was caused by her work-related injury.

The Appellant also raises issues on appeal to the Court of Appeals not raised before the Commission or even before the Circuit Court. Appellee objects to the consideration of issues on appeal not first raised before the Commission in the trial of this claim. However, without waiving this objection in an excess of caution the Appellee will address the Appellant's attempt to invoke out of state cases as authority in this case.

First, the Appellant offers case law from other states as precedent for the interpretation of Mississippi Statute Law, without introducing copies of the out of state workers' compensation statutes in the states whose cases are being cited. The definition of permanent disability, its application and award in the State of Mississippi is a function of the language in Mississippi

statute law. Before an out of state case can be offered for consideration, the Appellant must introduce a copy of the out of state statute being interpreted by the other state, in order for the Court of Appeals to determine that the out of state statute has the same wording as the Mississippi statute. If the out of state statute has different wording then the Mississippi statute, the other state's case law is not applicable in the interpretation of Mississippi statute law.

Nor can the Courts of Mississippi take judicial notice of the statute law of another state. So an essential factor in the consideration of out of state case law interpreting out of state statute law is missing. We do not even know if the other states in question even define permanent disability as does the State of Mississippi.

Second, the Appellant for some strange reason overlooks fifty-one (51) years of case law dealing with the effect of union influence on loss of wage earning capacity which interestingly enough supports the Appellee's case and mandates affirmation of the Commission order. The foundation case on this issue has been cited 26 times to Appellee counsel's count and has not even been criticized, let alone modified or overruled.

One would think that in making an argument to the Court of Appeals one would advise the Court of 51 years of Mississippi precedent, instead of citing out of state cases and presenting this issue as a case of first impression. One would think the Appellant would have a duty to disclose this line of case law to the court.

Simply put, under the facts in this case, established Mississippi case law for the last 51 years demands affirmation of the order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission.

C. The Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission did not err in allowing the testimony of Dough Pugh because the admission of his testimony was within the broad discretionary administrative authority of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission and the Appellant did not demonstrate that, considering that it had advance written notice of his testimony, was aware of the subject matter and nature of Mr. Pugh's testimony, called a witness in rebuttal and introduced documentary evidence supporting its rebuttal, that the failure to list Mr. Pugh caused any meaningful difference in the way it would have prepared its case or presented it

at the hearing. While Mr. Pugh was not listed as a witness on the Claimant's PreHearing

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